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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The Consolidated Financial Statements of IGM Financial Inc. have been prepared by Management, which is responsible
for the integrity, objectivity and reliability of the information presented, including selecting appropriate accounting
principles and making judgments and estimates. These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Financial information presented elsewhere in this Annual
Report is consistent with that in the Consolidated Financial Statements for comparable periods.
Systems of internal control and supporting procedures are maintained to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability
of financial information and the safeguarding of all assets controlled by the Company. These controls and supporting
procedures include quality standards in hiring and training employees, the establishment of organizational structures
providing a well-defined division of responsibilities and accountability for performance, and the communication of policies
and guidelines through the organization. Internal controls are reviewed and evaluated extensively by the internal auditor
and are subject to scrutiny by the external auditors.
Ultimate responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements rests with the Board of Directors. The Board is
assisted in discharging this responsibility by an Audit Committee, consisting entirely of independent directors. This
Committee reviews the Consolidated Financial Statements and recommends them for approval by the Board. In addition,
the Audit Committee reviews the recommendations of the internal auditor and the external auditors for improvements
in internal control and the action of Management to implement such recommendations. In carrying out its duties and
responsibilities, the Committee meets regularly with Management and with both the internal auditor and the external
auditors to review the scope and timing of their respective audits, to review their findings and to satisfy itself that their
responsibilities have been properly discharged.
Deloitte LLP, independent auditors appointed by the shareholders, have examined the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and have expressed their
opinion upon the completion of their examination in their Report to the Shareholders. The external auditors have full and
free access to the Audit Committee to discuss their audit and related findings.

Murray J. Taylor

Jeffrey R. Carney
Kevin E. Regan, fca
Co-President and Chief Executive Officer
Co-President and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Vice-President and Chief
			Financial Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of IGM Financial Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IGM Financial Inc., which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and the consolidated statements of
earnings, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity
and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
IGM Financial Inc. as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
February 13, 2015
Winnipeg, Manitoba
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

For the years ended December 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except shares and per share amounts)

2014		 2013

Revenues					
Management fees		
$ 2,014,086
$ 1,832,606
Administration fees		
397,235		357,535
Distribution fees			
351,257		323,045
Net investment income and other			
68,248		83,009
Proportionate share of affiliate’s earnings (Note 8)				96,458		93,827
						2,927,284		2,690,022

Expenses					
Commission			 992,673		886,123
Non-commission (Note 3)				
877,496		730,369
Interest			 92,152		92,150

						1,962,321		1,708,642
Earnings before income taxes			
964,963		981,380
Income taxes (Note 14)				 202,862		210,626
Net earnings				
762,101 		
770,754
Perpetual preferred share dividends			
8,850		8,850
Net earnings available to common shareholders		
$
753,251

$

761,904

Average number of common shares (in thousands) (Note 23)					
– Basic			
252,108		252,013
– Diluted			
252,778		252,474
					
Earnings per share (in dollars) (Note 23)					
– Basic		
$
2.99
$
3.02
– Diluted		
$
2.98
$
3.02
(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)				

Net earnings				

$

2014		 2013

762,101

$

770,754

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Items that will not be reclassified to Net earnings
		Employee benefits
			 Net actuarial gains (losses), net of tax of $20,312 and $(8,831)			
(54,917)		23,882
		 Investment in affiliate – employee benefits and other
			 Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of nil				(4,598)		 9,904
							
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Net earnings
		 Available for sale securities
			 Net unrealized gains (losses), net of tax of $21 and $(1,095)				
(58)		 3,042
			 Reclassification of realized (gains) losses to
				to net earnings, net of tax of $58 and $1,290				 (168)		(3,585)
								
(226)		
(543)
		 Investment in affiliate and other
			 Other comprehensive income (loss),
				net of tax of $885 and $(923)				31,982 		16,103
								 (27,759)		49,346
Comprehensive income			
$
734,342

$

820,100

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
						december 31
december 31
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)				 2014		 2013

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents			
$ 1,215,980
$
1,082,437
Securities (Note 4)				 89,545		 68,735
Accounts and other receivables				
470,708		 367,532
Income taxes recoverable				
22,710		 33,044
Loans (Note 5)			
7,018,893		5,851,500
Derivative financial instruments (Note 21)				 39,449		 57,351
Other assets (Note 7)			
45,757		 35,411
Investment in affiliate (Note 8)				 794,381		 717,775
Capital assets				
121,854		 121,435
Deferred selling commissions (Note 9)			
710,447		 688,230
Deferred income taxes (Note 14)			
69,405		 64,010
Intangible assets (Note 10)				
1,161,513		1,136,850
Goodwill (Note 10)			
2,656,539		2,655,859
					 $ 14,417,181

$

12,880,169

Liabilities					

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities			
$
374,369
$
352,257
Income taxes payable				
30,916		 33,099
Derivative financial instruments (Note 21)				 29,788		 35,476
Deposits and certificates (Note 11)			
223,328		 186,420
Other liabilities (Note 12)			
528,289		 365,519
Obligations to securitization entities (Note 6)			
6,754,048		5,572,055
Deferred income taxes (Note 14)			
310,564		 302,748
Long-term debt (Note 15)				1,325,000		1,325,000

						 9,576,302		8,172,574

Shareholders’ Equity					
Share capital					
		 Perpetual preferred shares			
150,000		 150,000
		Common shares				 1,655,581		1,630,844
Contributed surplus				
33,504		 32,627
Retained earnings			
3,112,512		2,977,083
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)			
(110,718)		 (82,959)
					

4,840,879		4,707,595

					 $ 14,417,181

$

12,880,169

(See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.)

These financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on February 13, 2015.
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Murray J. Taylor

John McCallum

Director

Director
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
share capital

							
			
perpetual 				
			
preferred
common 			
			
shares
shares
contributed
retained
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

(N ote 16)

(N ote 16)

surplus

earnings

32,627

$ 2,977,083

accumulated
other
comprehensive

total

(loss )

shareholders ’

(Note 19)

equity

(82,959)

$ 4,707,595

income

2014

Balance, beginning
of year

$

Net earnings
Other comprehensive
income (loss), net of tax
Total comprehensive
income (loss)

150,000

$ 1,630,844

$

$

- 		

- 		

- 		

762,101 		

- 		

- 		

- 		

- 		

- 		

- 		

- 		

762,101 		

- 		
(27,759)

(27,759)

(27,759)		

734,342

Common shares											
Issued under stock
		option plan
- 		
35,137 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
Purchased for
		cancellation
- 		
(10,400)		
- 		
- 		
- 		
Stock options											
Current period expense
- 		
- 		
5,744 		
- 		
- 		
Exercised		
- 		
- 		
(4,867)		
- 		
- 		
Perpetual preferred
share dividends		
- 		
- 		
- 		
(8,850)		
- 		
Common share dividends		
- 		
- 		
- 		 (548,088)		
- 		
Common share
cancellation excess
		and other (Note 16)
- 		
- 		
- 		
(69,734)		
- 		
Balance, end of year

$

150,000

$ 1,655,581

$

33,504

$ 3,112,512

762,101

$ (110,718)

35,137
(10,400)
5,744
(4,867)
(8,850)
(548,088)
(69,734)

$ 4,840,879

2013											

Balance, beginning
of year

$

Net earnings		
Other comprehensive
income (loss), net of tax
Total comprehensive
income (loss)		

150,000

$ 1,572,573

$

36,468

$ 2,813,257

$

(132,305)

$ 4,439,993

- 		

- 		

- 		

770,754 		

- 		

770,754

- 		

- 		

- 		

- 		

49,346 		

49,346

- 		

- 		

- 		

770,754 		

49,346 		

820,100

Common shares
Issued under stock
		 option plan		
- 		
66,714 		
- 		
- 		
- 		
Purchased for
		 cancellation		
- 		
(8,443)		
- 		
- 		
- 		
Stock options											
Current period expense
- 		
- 		
5,428 		
- 		
- 		
Exercised		
- 		
- 		
(9,269)		
- 		
- 		
Perpetual preferred
share dividends		
- 		
- 		
- 		
(8,850)		
- 		
Common share dividends		
- 		
- 		
- 		 (541,995)		
- 		
Common share
cancellation excess											
		and other (Note 16)
- 		
- 		
- 		
(56,083)		
- 		
Balance, end of year

$

150,000

$ 1,630,844

$

32,627

$ 2,977,083

$

(82,959)

66,714
(8,443)
5,428
(9,269)
(8,850)
(541,995)
(56,083)

$ 4,707,595

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)				

Operating activities
Earnings before income taxes			
$
Income taxes paid				
Adjustments to determine net cash from operating activities				
		 Deferred selling commission amortization				
		 Amortization of capital and intangible assets				
		 Changes in operating assets and liabilities and other				

2014		 2013

964,963
$
981,380
(170,220)		(204,347)
233,373		245,080
34,158		32,253
(65,743)		(102,022)

						 996,531		952,344
		 Deferred selling commissions paid				
(255,590)		(237,081)
						 740,941		715,263
Financing activities				
Net increase in deposits and certificates				
36,908		23,226
Net decrease in obligations related to assets sold				
		 under repurchase agreements			
- 		(225,445)
Net increase in obligations to securitization entities			
1,184,643		872,526
Issue of common shares			
34,015		59,785
Common shares purchased for cancellation				
(79,500)		(62,818)
Perpetual preferred share dividends paid			
(8,850)		(8,850)
Common share dividends paid				
(542,250)		(541,880)
						 624,966		116,544
Investing activities				
Purchase of securities				
(87,195)		(77,919)
Proceeds from the sale of securities			
71,664		296,073
Net increase in loans				 (1,160,100)		(923,940)
Net additions to capital assets				
(18,011)		(14,339)
Net cash used in acquisitions and additions to intangible assets				
(38,722)		(38,661)
Investment in affiliate (Note 8)				
- 		(49,674)
(1,232,364)		(808,460)

					
Increase in cash and cash equivalents				
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year				

133,543		23,347
1,082,437		1,059,090

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year			
$ 1,215,980
Cash				
Cash equivalents			

$

					

$ 1,215,980

106,828
$
88,802
1,109,152		993,635

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information related to operating activities				
Interest and dividends received			
$
238,344
Interest paid			
$
218,452
(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.)
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$ 1,082,437

$ 1,082,437
$
$

211,709
198,170

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
december 31, 2014 and 2013 (In thousands of Canadian dollars, except shares and per share amounts)

1.

C O R P O RA T E IN F O RMA T IO N

IGM Financial Inc. (the Company) is a publicly listed company (TSX: IGM), incorporated and domiciled in Canada.
The registered address of the Company is 447 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada. The Company is
controlled by Power Financial Corporation.
IGM Financial Inc. is a financial services company which serves the financial needs of Canadians through its
principal subsidiaries, each operating distinctly within the advice segment of the financial services market.
The Company’s wholly-owned principal subsidiaries are Investors Group Inc. and Mackenzie Financial Corporation.
2.

S UM M AR Y O F S IG N IF IC A N T A C C O UN TIN G PO LICIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The policies set out below were consistently applied to all the periods presented unless
otherwise noted.
Use of judgment, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to exercise judgment in the process
of applying accounting policies and requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. The key areas where judgment has been
applied include: the determination of which financial assets should be derecognized; the assessment of the appropriate
classification of financial instruments, including those classified as fair value through profit or loss; and the assessment that
significant influence exists for its investment in affiliate. Key components of the financial statements requiring management
to make estimates include: the fair value of financial instruments, goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, deferred selling
commissions, provisions and employee benefits. Actual results may differ from such estimates. Further detail of judgments
and estimates are found in the remainder of Note 2 and in Notes 6, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14 and 22.
Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and all subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis after elimination of intercompany transactions and balances. Subsidiaries are entities the Company controls when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity.
The Company’s investment in Great-West Lifeco Inc. (Lifeco) is accounted for using the equity method.
The investment in Lifeco was initially recorded at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize
the Company’s share of Lifeco’s comprehensive income and the dividends received since the date of acquisition.
Revenue recognition

Management fees are based on the net asset value of investment fund or other assets under management and are
recognized on an accrual basis as the service is performed. Administration fees are also recognized on an accrual basis as
the service is performed. Distribution fees derived from investment fund and securities transactions are recognized on a
trade date basis. Distribution fees derived from insurance and other financial services transactions are recognized on an
accrual basis.
Financial instruments

All financial assets are classified in one of the following categories: available for sale, fair value through profit or loss,
or loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial recognition. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are financial assets classified as held for trading or upon initial recognition are designated by the
Company as fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if acquired with the intent
to sell in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging
instruments. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial instruments that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.
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2.

S UM M A R Y OF S IGN IF IC A N T A C C OU NTIN G PO LICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

All financial assets are carried at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, except loans and receivables which
are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are classified either as financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method or as fair value through profit or loss, which
are carried at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classified as available for sale as well as other comprehensive income
amounts, including unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses related to the Company’s investment in its
affiliate, are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income on a net of tax basis. Accumulated other
comprehensive income forms part of Shareholders’ equity.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and temporary investments consisting of highly liquid investments with
short-term maturities. Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis in Net investment income and other in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
Securities

Securities, which are recorded on a trade date basis, are classified as either available for sale or fair value through profit
or loss.
Available for sale securities comprise equity securities held for long-term investment, investments in proprietary
investment funds and fixed income securities. Realized gains and losses on disposal of available for sale securities,
dividends declared, interest income, as well as the amortization of discounts or premiums using the effective interest
method, are recorded in Net investment income and other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Unrealized gains
and losses on available for sale securities are recorded in Other comprehensive income until they are realized or until
management determines that there is objective evidence of impairment in value, at which time they are recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
Fair value through profit or loss securities are held for trading and are comprised of fixed income and equity
securities and investments in proprietary investment funds. Unrealized and realized gains and losses, dividends
declared, and interest income on these securities are recorded in Net investment income and other in the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.
Loans

Loans are classified as either held for trading or loans and receivables, based on the Company’s intent to sell the loans
in the near term.
Loans classified as held for trading are recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in Net investment
income and other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Loans classified as loans and receivables are carried
at amortized cost less an allowance for credit losses. Interest income is accounted for on the accrual basis using the
effective interest method for all loans and is recorded in Net investment income and other in the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.
A loan is classified as impaired when, in the opinion of management, there no longer is reasonable assurance of
the timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest. A loan is also classified as impaired when interest
or principal is contractually past due 90 days, except in circumstances where management has determined that the
collectibility of principal and interest is not in doubt.
The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses which is considered adequate by management to absorb all
credit related losses in its portfolio. Specific allowances are established as a result of reviews of individual loans.
There is a second category of allowance, the collective allowance, which is allocated against sectors rather than
specifically against individual loans. This allowance is established where a prudent assessment by management suggests
that losses have occurred but where such losses cannot yet be identified on an individual loan basis.
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2.

S UM M AR Y O F S IG N IF IC A N T A C C O UN TIN G PO LICIES (continued)

Derecognition

The Company enters into transactions where it transfers financial assets recognized on its balance sheet.
The determination of whether the financial assets are derecognized is based on the extent to which the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred. The gains or losses and the servicing fee revenue for financial assets that are
derecognized are reported in Net investment income and other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
The transactions for financial assets that are not derecognized are accounted for as secured financing transactions.
Deferred selling commissions

Commissions paid on the sale of certain investment funds are deferred and amortized over their estimated useful
lives, not exceeding a period of seven years. Commissions paid on the sale of deposits are deferred and amortized over
their estimated useful lives, not exceeding a period of five years. When a client redeems units or shares in investment
funds that are subject to a deferred sales charge, a redemption fee is paid by the client and is recorded as revenue by
the Company. Any unamortized deferred selling commission asset recognized on the initial sale of these investment
fund units or shares is recorded as a disposal. The Company regularly reviews the carrying value of deferred selling
commissions with respect to any events or circumstances that indicate impairment. Among the tests performed by the
Company to assess recoverability is the comparison of the future economic benefits derived from the deferred selling
commission asset in relation to its carrying value.
Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost of $321.9 million at December 31, 2014 (2013 – $308.5 million), less accumulated
amortization of $200.0 million (2013 – $187.1 million). Buildings, furnishings and equipment are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 17 years for equipment and furnishings and
10 to 50 years for the building and its components. Capital assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Goodwill and intangible assets

The Company tests the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets for impairment at least once
a year and more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates the asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is
recognized if the amount of the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal or its value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash generating units).
Investment fund management contracts have been assessed to have an indefinite useful life as the contractual right to
manage the assets has no fixed term.
Trade names have been assessed to have an indefinite useful life as they contribute to the revenues of the Company’s
integrated asset management business as a whole and the Company intends to utilize them for the foreseeable future.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, not
exceeding a period of 20 years. Finite life intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Employee benefits

The Company maintains a number of employee benefit plans including defined benefit plans and defined contribution
pension plans for eligible employees. These plans are related parties in accordance with IFRS. The Company’s defined
benefit plans include a funded defined benefit pension plan for eligible employees, unfunded supplementary executive
retirement plans (SERP) for certain executive officers, and an unfunded post-employment health care, dental and life
insurance plan for eligible retirees.
The defined benefit pension plan provides pensions based on length of service and final average earnings.
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2.

S UM M A R Y OF S IGN IF IC A N T A C C OU NTIN G PO LICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

The cost of the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method prorated
on service based upon management’s assumptions about discount rates, compensation increases, retirement ages
of employees, mortality and expected health care costs. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying
amount of pension obligations. The Company’s accrued benefit liability in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated
separately for each plan by discounting the amount of the benefit that employees have earned in return for their service
in current and prior periods and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The Company determines the net interest
component of the pension expense for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the accrued benefit
liability at the beginning of the annual period to the net accrued benefit liability. The discount rate used to value
liabilities is determined using a yield curve of AA corporate debt securities.
If the plan benefits are changed, or a plan is curtailed, any past service costs or curtailment gains or losses are
recognized immediately in net earnings.
Current service costs, past service costs and curtailment gains or losses are included in Non-commission expenses.
Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans represent actuarial gains and losses and the actual return on
plan assets, less interest calculated at the discount rate. Remeasurements are recognized immediately through Other
comprehensive income (OCI) and are not reclassified to net earnings.
The accrued benefit liability represents the deficit related to defined benefit plans and is included in Other liabilities.
Payments to the defined contribution pension plans are expensed as incurred.
Share-based payments

The Company uses the fair value based method to account for stock options granted to employees. The fair value of
stock options is determined on each grant date. Compensation expense is recognized over the period that the stock
options vest, with a corresponding increase in Contributed surplus. When stock options are exercised, the proceeds
together with the amount recorded in Contributed surplus are added to Share capital.
The Company recognizes a liability for cash settled awards including those granted under the Performance Share
Unit plan and the Deferred Share Unit plan. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period, net of
related hedges. The liability is remeasured at fair value at each reporting period.
Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present obligation where a reliable estimate
can be made, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.
Income taxes

The Company uses the liability method in accounting for income taxes whereby deferred income tax assets and
liabilities reflect the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their tax bases and tax loss carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured
based on the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates which are anticipated to be in effect when the temporary
differences are expected to reverse.
Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing Net earnings available to common shareholders by the average
number of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted earnings per share is determined using the same method as
basic earnings per share except that the average number of common shares outstanding includes the potential dilutive
effect of outstanding stock options granted by the Company as determined by the treasury stock method.
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2.

S UM M AR Y O F S IG N IF IC A N T A C C O UN TIN G PO LICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the Company in the management of equity price and interest rate risks.
The Company does not utilize derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
The Company formally documents all hedging relationships, as well as its risk management objective and strategy
for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives to specific assets and liabilities
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets or to anticipated future transactions. The Company also formally assesses, both at
the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. Derivative financial instruments are recorded
at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Derivative financial instruments specifically designated as a hedge and meeting the criteria for hedge effectiveness
offset the changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. A hedge is designated either as a cash flow hedge or
a fair value hedge. A cash flow hedge requires the change in fair value of the derivative, to the extent effective, to be
recorded in Other comprehensive income, which is reclassified to the Consolidated Statements of Earnings when the
hedged item affects earnings. The change in fair value of the ineffective portion of the derivative in a cash flow hedge
is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. A fair value hedge requires the change in fair value of the
hedging derivative and the change in fair value of the hedged item relating to the hedged risk to both be recorded in
the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
The Company enters into interest rate swaps as part of its mortgage banking and intermediary operations.
These swap agreements require the periodic exchange of net interest payments without the exchange of the notional
principal amount on which the payments are based. These instruments are not designated as hedging instruments.
Changes in fair value are recorded in Net investment income and other in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
The Company also enters into total return swaps and forward agreements to manage its exposure to fluctuations in
the total return of its common shares related to deferred compensation arrangements. Total return swap and forward
agreements require the exchange of net contractual payments periodically or at maturity without the exchange of the
notional principal amounts on which the payments are based. Certain of these derivatives are not designated as
hedging instruments and changes in fair value are recorded in Non-commission expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.
Derivatives continue to be utilized on a basis consistent with the risk management policies of the Company and are
monitored by the Company for effectiveness as economic hedges even if specific hedge accounting requirements are
not met.
Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets when the
Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and intends to settle on a net basis or to
realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Future accounting changes

The Company continuously monitors the potential changes proposed by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) and analyzes the effect that changes in the standards may have on the Company’s operations.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The IASB issued IFRS 9 which replaces IAS 39, the current standard for accounting for financial instruments.
The standard was completed in three separate phases:
• Classification and measurement: This phase requires that financial assets be classified at either amortized cost or
fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.
• Impairment methodology: This phase replaces the current incurred loss model for impairment of financial assets
with an expected loss model.
• Hedge accounting: This phase replaces the current rule-based hedge accounting requirements in IAS 39 with
guidance that more closely aligns the accounting with an entity’s risk management activities.
This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and the impact of the standard is
currently being assessed.
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2.

S UM M A R Y OF S IGN IF IC A N T A C C OU NTIN G PO LICIES (continued)

Future accounting changes (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The IASB issued IFRS 15 which outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. The model requires an entity to recognize revenue as the goods or services are
transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects the expected consideration. This standard is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 and the impact of the standard is currently being assessed.
3.

NO N- C O M M IS S ION E X P E N S E
2014

2013

Salaries and employee benefits
$
375,420
$
347,148
Client distributions and other costs (Note 12)		
80, 968		
Occupancy		
56,770 		
52,954
Amortization of capital and intangible assets		
34,158 		
32,253
Other 		
330,180 		
298,014
$
4.

877,496

$

730,369

S E C UR I TI E S

		
2014
2013
								

Available for sale:
Proprietary investment funds

$

Fair value through profit or loss:
Equity securities		
Proprietary investment funds		

C OST		FAIR VALU E		

9,614

$

10,220

$

CO S T 		

3,444

$

F AIR VALUE

4,113

11,009		10,233		 6,727		 8,004
66,385		69,092		54,147		56,618

				 77,394		79,325		60,874		64,622
			

$

87,008

$

89,545

$

64,318

$

68,735

Available for sale

Proprietary investment funds
The Company manages and provides services and earns management and administration fees, in respect of investment
funds that are not recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As at December 31, 2014, there were $126.0 billion
in investment fund assets under management (2013 – $117.6 billion). The Company’s investments in proprietary
investment funds are included on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as available for sale securities.
These investments are generally made in the process of launching a new fund and are sold as third party investors
subscribe. This balance represents the Company’s maximum exposure to loss associated with these investments.
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4 . S E C UR I TIE S (continued)
Fair value through profit or loss

Proprietary investment funds
Certain investment funds are consolidated where the Company has made the assessment that it controls the investment
fund. As at December 31, 2014, the underlying investments related to these consolidated investment funds primarily
consisted of cash and short-term investments of $8.8 million (2013 – $17.7 million), equity securities of $30.2 million
(2013 – $29.1 million) and fixed income securities of $30.0 million (2013 – $9.8 million). The underlying securities of
these funds are classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value through profit or loss.
Canada Mortgage Bonds
As part of the Company’s interest rate risk management activities relating to its mortgage banking operations, Canada
Mortgage Bonds were purchased and subsequently sold under repurchase agreements. These activities represented
short-term funding transactions whereby the Company sold securities that it owned and committed to repurchase these
securities at a specified price on a specified date in the future.
On September 26, 2013, the Company sold the Canada Mortgage Bonds for $217.8 million and settled the
obligation to repurchase the securities of $218.6 million.
5.

LO A NS

				
				
1 YEAR
				 OR LESS

Loans and receivables
Residential mortgages

C ONTR AC TU AL MATU R ITY
			
1 - 5
OVER
2014
YEAR S
5 YEAR S
TOTAL

$ 1,173,019

$ 5,477,781

$

2,628

$ 6,653,428

Less: Collective allowance		

2013
TOTAL

$ 5,527,957

762		

728

				
6,652,666		5,527,229
Held for trading		
			

366,227		

$ 7,018,893

324,271

$ 5,851,500

The change in the collective allowance for credit losses is as follows:
Balance, beginning of year
$
728 $
669
Recoveries		
(236)		
(113)
Provision for credit losses		
270		
172
Balance, end of year

$

762

$

728

Total impaired loans as at December 31, 2014 were $2,056 (2013 – $1,846).
Total interest income on loans classified as loans and receivables was $179.1 million (2013 – $153.9 million).
Total interest expense on obligations to securitization entities, related to securitized loans, was $130.2 million
(2013 – $110.0 million). Gains realized on the sale of residential mortgages totalled $14.8 million (2013 – $16.9 million).
Fair value adjustments related to mortgage banking operations totalled $0.2 million (2013 – $11.0 million). These amounts
were included in Net investment income and other. Net investment income and other also includes other mortgage banking
related items including interest income on mortgages held for trading, portfolio insurance, issue costs, and other items.
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6.

S E C UR I TI Z A T IO N S

The Company securitizes residential mortgages through the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC)
sponsored National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities (NHA MBS) Program and Canada Mortgage Bond
(CMB) Program and through Canadian bank-sponsored asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) programs.
These transactions do not meet the requirements for derecognition as the Company retains prepayment risk and
certain elements of credit risk. Accordingly, the Company has retained these mortgages on its balance sheets and
has recorded offsetting liabilities for the net proceeds received as Obligations to securitization entities which are
carried at amortized cost.
The Company earns interest on the mortgages and pays interest on the obligations to securitization entities.
As part of the CMB transactions, the Company enters into a swap transaction whereby the Company pays coupons
on CMBs and receives investment returns on the NHA MBS and the reinvestment of repaid mortgage principal.
A component of this swap, related to the obligation to pay CMB coupons and receive investment returns on repaid
mortgage principal, is recorded as a derivative and had a negative fair value of $26.3 million at December 31, 2014
(2013 – negative $16.2 million).
Under the NHA MBS and CMB Program, the Company has an obligation to make timely payments to security
holders regardless of whether amounts are received from mortgagors. All mortgages securitized under the NHA MBS and
CMB Program are insured by CMHC or another approved insurer under the program. As part of the ABCP transactions,
the Company has provided cash reserves for credit enhancement which are carried at cost. Credit risk is limited to these
cash reserves and future net interest income as the ABCP Trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other assets for
failure to make payments when due. Credit risk is further limited to the extent these mortgages are insured.
				
			
securitized
			
mortgages

obligations to 		
securitization 		
entities
net

2014

Carrying value			
NHA MBS and CMB Program
$ 4,611,253
$ 4,691,792
$ (80,539)
Bank sponsored ABCP
2,012,702		2,062,256		 (49,554)
Total

$ 6,623,955

$ 6,754,048

$ (130,093)

Fair value

$ 6,819,531

$ 6,858,924

$

(39,393)

Carrying value			
NHA MBS and CMB Program
$ 3,802,648
$ 3,843,383
$
Bank sponsored ABCP		 1,688,936		 1,728,672		

(40,735)
(39,736)

2013

Total

$ 5,491,584

$ 5,572,055

$

(80,471)

Fair value

$ 5,659,082

$ 5,671,379

$

(12,297)

The carrying value of Obligations to securitization entities, which is recorded net of issue costs, includes principal
payments received on securitized mortgages that are not due to be settled until after the reporting period. Issue costs
are amortized over the life of the obligation on an effective interest rate basis.
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7.

O THE R A S S E T S
2014

				

Deferred and prepaid expenses
$
Other			
$

			

2013

39,635
$
32,279
6,122		3,132
45,757

$

35,411

Total other assets of $18.4 million as at December 31, 2014 (2013 – $11.1 million) are expected to be realized within
one year.
8.

I NVE S TME N T IN A F F IL IA T E

Investment in affiliate represents the Company’s investment in Lifeco. Lifeco is a publicly listed company that is
incorporated and domiciled in Canada and is controlled by Power Financial Corporation. Lifeco is a financial services
holding company with interests in the life insurance, health insurance, retirement savings, investment management and
reinsurance businesses, primarily in Canada, the United States, Europe and Asia.
At December 31, 2014, the Company held 39,737,388 (2013 – 39,737,388) shares of Lifeco, which represented
an equity interest of 4.0% (2013 – 4.0%). The Company uses the equity method to account for its investment in
Lifeco as it exercises significant influence. Significant influence arises from several factors, including but not limited
to, the following: common control of Lifeco by Power Financial Corporation, directors common to the boards of the
Company and Lifeco, certain shared strategic alliances, significant intercompany transactions and service agreements
that influence the financial and operating policies of both companies. The Company’s proportionate share of Lifeco’s
earnings is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

2014

Balance, beginning of year
$
Additional shares acquired		
Proportionate share of earnings		
Proportionate share of changes in affiliate’s litigation provision		
Dividends received		
Proportionate share of other comprehensive
income (loss) and other adjustments		

2013

717,775
$
600,386
-		49,674
96,458		84,847
-		8,980
(48,877)		(47,678)
29,025		21,566

Balance, end of year

$

794,381

$

717,775

Share of equity, end of year

$

663,018

$

585,387

Fair value, end of year

$ 1,334,779

$

1,301,399

Lifeco directly owned 9,200,000 shares of the Company at December 31, 2014.
Lifeco’s financial information as at December 31, 2014 can be obtained in its publicly available information.
On March 12, 2013, the Company purchased 1,950,000 subscription receipts of Lifeco which were recorded at cost.
On July 18, 2013, the acquisition of Irish Life Group Limited was completed and the subscription receipts of Lifeco
were exchanged for 1,950,000 Lifeco common shares at a cost of $49.7 million. As a result of this transaction, the
Company maintains its current ownership position in Lifeco of 4.0%.
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9.

D E FE R R E D S E L L IN G C O M M IS S ION S
2014

			

2013

Cost		
$ 1,346,530
$ 1,379,113
Less: accumulated amortization		
(636,083)		(690,883)
			

$

710,447

$

688,230

Changes in deferred selling commissions:
Balance, beginning of year
$
688,230
$
696,229
Changes due to:
Sales of investment funds		
255,590		237,081
Amortization		 (233,373)		(245,080)
				
Balance, end of year

$

22,217		(7,999)
710,447

$

688,230

Amortization of deferred selling commissions includes $30.0 million (2013 – $35.1 million) of disposals related to
redemption activity and is recorded in Commission expense in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
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1 0 . G O O D W IL L A N D IN T A N GIB L E A S S ETS

The components of goodwill and intangible assets are as follows:
finite-life

indefinite-life

			
D IS T RIB U T IO N
				 AND O T HER
				
M ANAG EM ENT
			
SOF T W A R E
CO NT RACT S

M U T U AL F U ND 		
M ANAG EM ENT
T RAD E
CO NT RACT S
NAM ES

T O T AL
INT ANG IB LE
AS S ET S

GOODWILL

2014

Cost		
$ 153,296 $ 111,124 $ 740,559
$ 285,177 $ 1,290,156 $ 2,656,539
Less: accumulated amortization		 (73,129)		(55,514)		
-		
-		
(128,643)		
			

$

80,167

$

55,610

$

740,559

$ 285,177

$ 1,161,513

$ 2,656,539

Changes in goodwill
and intangible assets:
Balance, beginning of year
$
48,818 $ 62,296 $ 740,559
$ 285,177 $ 1,136,850 $ 2,655,859
Additions
37,701		 1,041		
-		
-		38,742		 680
Disposals		
-		 (369)		
-		
-		 (369)		
Amortization
(6,352)		 (7,358)		
-		
-		(13,710)		
Balance, end of year

$

80,167

$

55,610

$

740,559

$ 285,177

$ 1,161,513

$ 2,656,539

2013

Cost		
$ 115,636 $ 111,429 $ 740,559
$ 285,177 $ 1,252,801 $ 2,655,859
Less: accumulated amortization		 (66,818)		 (49,133)		
-		
-		 (115,951)		
			

$

48,818

$

62,296

$

740,559

$

285,177

$ 1,136,850

$ 2,655,859

Changes in goodwill
and intangible assets:
Balance, beginning of year
$
28,082 $
68,592 $ 739,750
$ 285,177 $ 1,121,601 $ 2,638,954
Additions		27,146		 1,613		 809		
-		29,568		16,905
Disposals		
-		 (545)		
-		
-		 (545)		
Amortization		 (6,410)		 (7,364)		
-		
-		(13,774)		
Balance, end of year

$

48,818

$

62,296

$

740,559

$

285,177

$ 1,136,850

$ 2,655,859

During the fourth quarter of 2013, Investment Planning Counsel Inc., a subsidiary of IGM Financial Inc., acquired
the shares of Independent Planning Group Inc. and its related entities. The purchase price was allocated to indefinite
life intangible assets and goodwill.
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1 0 . G O O D W I LL A N D IN T A N G IBL E A S S E T S (continued)

The goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets consisting of investment fund management contracts and trade
names are allocated to each cash generating unit (CGU) as summarized in the following table:
		

2014

2013

				
		
INDEFINITE		 IND EFINITE
						
LIFE
LIFE
						INTANGIBLE		
INT ANGIBLE
					 GOODWILL
ASSETS
G O O D W ILL
ASSETS

Investors Group					 $ 1,347,781 $
- $ 1,347,781 $
Mackenzie						
1,168,580		1,002,681		
1,168,580		
1,002,681
Other						
140,178		 23,055		139,498		 23,055
Total						 $ 2,656,539

$ 1,025,736

$ 2,655,859

$ 1,025,736

The Company tests whether goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are impaired by assessing the carrying amounts
with the recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of the Company’s CGUs is based on the best available evidence of
fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is initially assessed with reference to valuation multiples of comparable publicly-traded
financial institutions and precedent business acquisition transactions. These valuation multiples may include price-toearnings or other conventionally used measures for investment managers or other financial service providers (multiples of
value to assets under management, revenues, or other measures of profitability). This assessment may give regard to a variety
of relevant considerations, including expected growth, risk and capital market conditions, among other factors. The valuation
multiples used in assessing fair value represent Level 2 fair value inputs.
The fair value less costs of disposal of the Company’s CGUs was compared with the carrying amount and it was
determined there was no impairment. Changes in assumptions and estimates used in determining the recoverable amounts of
CGUs can result in significant adjustments to the valuation of the CGUs.
1 1 . D E P O S I TS A N D C E R T IF IC A T E S

Deposits and certificates are classified as other financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.
Included in the assets of the Consolidated Balance Sheets are cash and cash equivalents, loans, and accounts and other
receivables amounting to $223.3 million (2013 – $186.4 million) related to deposits and certificates.

TER M TO MATU R ITY

					
		
1 YEAR
1 –5
OVER
2014
DEMAND

Deposits
Certificates

YEAR S

5 YEAR S

TOTAL

2013
total

$ 203,762
$
7,542
$
7,062
$
1,479
$ 219,845 $ 182,660
-		
56		 1,378		 2,049		 3,483		 3,760
$ 203,762

94

OR LESS

$

7,598

$

8,440

$

3,528
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$ 223,328

$ 186,420

1 2 . O THE R L IA BIL IT IE S
2014

			

2013

Dividends payable
$ 143,662
$ 137,824
Interest payable		
22,029		21,388
Clients distributions and other costs		
80,968		
Accrued benefit liabilities (Note 13)		
211,209		135,111
Provisions		
29,062		37,331
Other			
41,359		33,865
$

			

528,289

$

365,519

In the third quarter of 2012, Investors Group introduced investment solutions for clients with household investments in
Investors Group funds in excess of $500,000. At December 31, 2014, an estimated accrual of $81.0 million was recorded
related to these lower fee investment solutions. This amount primarily reflects distributions to clients who did not transfer
to these lower-priced solutions when eligible. Investors Group will make these distributions in the last half of 2015.
The Company establishes restructuring provisions related to business acquisitions, divestitures and other items,
as well as other provisions in the normal course of its operations. Changes in provisions during 2014 consisted of
provision reversals of $0.6 million and payments of $7.7 million.
Total other liabilities of $290.3 million as at December 31, 2014 (2013 – $197.7 million) are expected to be settled
within one year.
1 3 . E M P LO Y E E B E N E F IT S
Defined benefit plans

The Company maintains a number of employee pension and post-employment benefit plans. These plans include a
funded registered defined benefit pension plan for all eligible employees, unfunded supplementary executive retirement
plans (SERPs) for certain executive officers, and an unfunded post-employment health care, dental and life insurance
plan for eligible retirees.
Effective July 1, 2012, the defined benefit pension plan was closed to new members. For all eligible employees hired
after July 1, 2012, the Company introduced a registered defined contribution pension plan.
The defined benefit pension plan is a separate trust that is legally separated from the Company. The defined benefit
pension plan is registered under the Pension Benefits Act of Manitoba (Act) and the Income Tax Act (ITA).
As required by the Act, the defined benefit pension plan is governed by a pension committee which includes current
and retired employees. The Pension Committee has certain responsibilities as described in the Act but may delegate
certain activities to the Company. The ITA governs the employer’s ability to make contributions and also has
parameters that the plan must meet with respect to investments in foreign property.
The defined benefit pension plan provides lifetime pension benefits to all eligible employees based on length of
service and final average earnings subject to limits established by the ITA. Death benefits are available on the death of
an active member or a retired member.
Employees who are not senior officers are required to make annual contributions based on a percentage of salaries
which are subject to a maximum amount.
The actuarial valuation for funding purposes related to the Company’s registered defined benefit pension plan,
based on a measurement date of December 31, 2013, was completed in May 2014. Based on the actuarial valuation,
the registered pension plan had a solvency deficit of $23.4 million compared to $106.3 million in the previous actuarial
valuation, which was based on a measurement date of December 31, 2012. The reduction in solvency deficit resulted
primarily from higher interest rates and market returns on the plan assets, and is required to be funded over five years.
During 2014, the Company made contributions of $19.4 million (2013 – $36.1 million). The Company expects to
make contributions of approximately $19.7 million in 2015. Pension contribution decisions are subject to change,
as contributions are affected by many factors including market performance, regulatory requirements, changes in
assumptions and management’s ability to change funding policy. The next required actuarial valuation will be based on
a measurement date of December 31, 2016.
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1 3 . E M P LO YE E BE N E F IT S (continued)
Defined benefit plans (continued)

The SERPs are non-registered, non-contributory defined benefit plans which provide supplementary benefits to
certain retired executives.
The other post-employment benefit plan is a non-contributory plan and provides eligible employees a
reimbursement of medical costs or a fixed amount per year to cover medical costs during retirement.
The SERPs and other post-employment benefit plans are managed by the Company with oversight from the Board
of Directors.
The defined benefit plans expose the Company to actuarial risks such as mortality risk which represents life
expectancy and impacts the calculation of the obligations; interest rate risk which impacts the discount rate used to
calculate the obligations and the actual return on plan assets; salary risk as estimated salary increases are used in the
calculation of the obligations; and investment risk as the nature of the investments impact the actual return on the plan
assets. The risks are managed by regular monitoring of the plans, applicable regulations and other factors that could
impact the Company’s expenses and cash flows.
Plan assets, benefit obligations and funded status:
2014
				
				
				
				

2013

DE F I N E D 				
		
B E N E F I T 				 OTHER POST- 		
P E N S I O N 				EMPLOYMENT
P L A N 		
SER PS		 BENEFITS

Fair value of plan assets
Balance, beginning of year
$ 275,950 $
Employee contributions		
3,813		
Employer contributions		 19,384		
Benefits paid		 (11,232)		
Interest income		 14,282		
Remeasurements:
		 – Return on plan assets		
7,898		
Balance, end of year		 310,095		

defined
benefit				other postpension				employment
plan		
serps		 benefits

- $
-		
-		
-		
-		

$ 213,919 $
-		 3,588		
-		36,091		
-		 (9,658)		
-		 9,781		

- $
-		
-		
-		
-		

-

-		

-		22,229		

-		

-

-		

-		275,950		

-		

-

Accrued benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year		 319,690		47,106		 44,265		306,457		 46,880		 41,959
Benefits paid		 (11,232)		 (1,548)		 (2,054)		(9,658)		(1,447)		(1,561)
Current service cost		 15,513		 1,168		 1,199		15,721		 1,369		 1,081
Employee contributions		
3,813		
-		
-		 3,588		
-		
Interest expense		 15,986		 2,240		 2,030		13,498		 1,984		 1,675
Remeasurements:
		 Actuarial losses (gains)
			– Demographic assumption 11,535		 697		 1,160		13,405		 1,067		 4,964
			– Experience adjustments
104		 (1,015)		 (103)		15,767		 978		 (656)
			– Financial assumptions		 60,537		 5,744		 4,469		
(39,088)		(3,725)		(3,197)
Balance, end of year		 415,946		54,392		 50,966		319,690		 47,106		 44,265
Accrued benefit liability

96

$ 105,851

$

54,392

$

50,966

$

43,740

$
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47,106

$

44,265

1 3 . E M P LO Y E E B E N E F IT S (continued)
Defined benefit plans (continued)

Significant actuarial assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit obligation:
2014
				
				
				
				

Discount rate
Rate of compensation
increase
Health care cost trend
rate (1)
Mortality rates at age 65
for current pensioners

2013

D E F I N E D				
		
B E N E F I T 				 OTHER POST- 		
P E N S I O N 				EMPLOYMENT
P L A N 		
SER PS		 BENEFITS

4.10%

2.05%-4.15%

3.90%

3.75%

n/a

23.3 years

3.90%
n/a

n/a		

5.91%

23.3 years

defined
benefit				other postpension				employment
plan		
serps		 benefits

5.05%

4.70%-5.15%

4.70%

3.90%

3.75%

n/a

n/a

23.3 years

23.1 years

5.98%

n/a		
23.1 years

23.1 years

(1) Trending to 4.50% in 2029 and remaining at that rate thereafter.

The weighted average duration of the pension plans’ defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period
is 18.4 years (2013 – 18.7 years).
Benefit expense:
2014
				
				
				
				

2013

D E F I N E D				
		
B E N E F I T 				 OTHER POST- 		
P E N S I O N 				EMPLOYMENT
P L A N 		
SER PS		 BENEFITS

defined
benefit				other postpension				employment
plan		
serps		 benefits

Current service cost
$
Net interest cost		

15,513 $
1,168 $
1,199
$
15,721 $
1,369 $
1,081
1,704		 2,240		 2,030		3,717		1,984		1,675

			

17,217

$

$

3,408

$

3,229

$

19,438

$

3,353

$

2,756
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1 3 . E M P LO YE E B E N E F IT S (continued)
Defined benefit plans (continued)

Sensitivity analysis:
The calculation of the accrued benefit liability and the related benefit expense are sensitive to the significant
actuarial assumptions. The following table presents the sensitivity analysis:
		
			
					

2014
INC R EASE
(DEC R EASE)
LIABILITY

					 IN

INC R EASE
(DEC R EASE)
IN EXPENSE

2013
INCREAS E
(D ECREAS E)
IN LIAB ILIT Y

INC REASE
(D ECREASE)
IN EXPENSE

Defined benefit pension plan
Discount rate (+ / – 0.25%)
		Increase					$ (17,708)
$
(1,677) $ (13,821) $
(1,134)
		Decrease					
18,947		 1,733		14,761		 1,150
Rate of compensation increase (+ / – 0.25%)
		Increase					
6,286		 682		 4,679		 447
		Decrease						 (6,223)		 (669)		 (4,597)		 (322)
Mortality
		 Increase 1 year						
8,951		 722		 7,251		 756
SERPs
Discount rate (+ / – 0.25%)
		Increase					
(1,723)		
7		 (1,477)		
1
		Decrease					
1,809		 (9)		 1,550		
(3)
Rate of compensation increase (+ / – 0.25%)
		Increase						
154		 28		 210		
32
		Decrease					
(152)		 (28)		 (207)		
(31)
Mortality
		 Increase 1 year						
1,218		 54		 982		
65
Other post-employment benefits
Discount rate (+ / – 0.25%)
		Increase						 (1,460)		 11		 (1,229)		
16
		Decrease					
1,531		 (13)		 1,288		
(18)
Health care cost trend rates (+ / – 1.00%)
		Increase						 3,104		 120		 2,484		
97
		Decrease						 (2,617)		 (102)		 (2,108)		
(80)
Mortality
		Increase 1 year						 1,708		
88		 1,532		
82

The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur as changes in certain assumptions may be correlated.
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1 3 . E M P LO Y E E BE N E F IT S (continued)
Defined benefit plans (continued)

Asset allocation of defined benefit pension plan by asset category:
Equity securities
Fixed income securities
Cash and cash equivalents
			

2014

2013

64.3 %
33.5
2.2

64.4 %
32.8
2.8

100.0 %

100.0 %

The defined benefit pension plan adheres to its Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures which includes
investment objectives, asset allocation guidelines and investment limits by asset class. The defined benefit pension plan
assets are invested in proprietary investment funds with the exception of cash on deposit with Schedule I Canadian
chartered banks.
Defined contribution pension plans

The Company maintains a number of defined contribution pension plans for eligible employees. The total expense
recorded in Non-commission expense was $1.4 million (2013 – $0.9 million).
Group Retirement Savings Plan (RSP)

The Company maintains a group RSP for eligible employees. The Company’s contributions are recorded in Noncommission expense as paid and totalled $6.4 million (2013 – $6.1 million).
1 4 . I NC O M E T A X E S

Income tax expense:

2014

Income taxes recognized in net earnings
Current taxes
		 Tax on current year’s earnings			
$
		 Adjustments in respect of prior years				

2013

196,947
$
220,492
(17,783)		(8,361)

						 179,164		212,131
Deferred taxes				
23,698		(1,505)
					

Effective income tax rate:

$

202,862

2014

$

210,626

2013

Income taxes at Canadian federal and provincial statutory rates
Effect of:
Proportionate share of affiliate’s earnings (Note 8)
Tax loss consolidation (Note 25)
Other items
Proportionate share of affiliate’s provision (Note 8)

26.58 %

26.57 %

(2.68)		
(2.06)		
(0.82)
-

(2.32)
(2.06)
(0.48)
(0.25)

Effective income tax rate

21.02 %

21.46 %
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1 4 . I NC O M E T A X E S (continued)
Deferred income taxes

Sources of deferred income taxes:
2014

			

Deferred income tax assets
Accrued benefit liabilities
$
Loss carryforwards		
Other

2013

57,000
$
5,607 		
42,679 		

36,458
20,189
42,324

				 105,286 		

98,971

Deferred income tax liabilities		
Deferred selling commissions		
189,820		
Intangible assets		
141,287		
Other		 15,338		

183,819
143,302
10,588

				 346,445		

337,709

$

			

241,159

$

238,738

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:
2014

			

2013

Deferred income tax assets
Deferred income tax liabilities

$

69,405
$
64,010
310,564		302,748

			

$

241,159

$

238,738

As at December 31, 2014, the Company has non-capital losses of $7.9 million (2013 – $3.2 million) available to reduce
future taxable income, the benefit of which has not been recognized. These losses can be carried forward indefinitely.
1 5 . LO NG - TE RM DE B T
maturity

March 7, 2018
April 8, 2019
December 13, 2027
May 9, 2031
December 31, 2032
March 7, 2033
December 10, 2040

rate

6.58%
7.35%
6.65%
7.45%
7.00%
7.11%
6.00%

series			 2014		 2013

2003
$
2009		
1997		
2001		
2002		
2003		
2010		

					

150,000
$
375,000		
125,000		
150,000		
175,000		
150,000		
200,000		

$ 1,325,000

150,000
375,000
125,000
150,000
175,000
150,000
200,000

$ 1,325,000

Long-term debt consists of unsecured debentures which are redeemable by the Company, in whole or in part, at any
time, at the greater of par and a formula price based upon yields at the time of redemption.
Long-term debt is classified as other financial liabilities and is carried at amortized cost.
Interest expense relating to long-term debt was $92.2 million (2013 – $92.2 million).
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1 6 . S HA R E C A P IT A L
Authorized

Unlimited number of:
First preferred shares, issuable in series
Second preferred shares, issuable in series
Class 1 non-voting shares
Common shares, no par value
Issued and outstanding
2014
					

SHAR ES		

STATED VALU E 		

Perpetual preferred shares – classified as equity:					
First preferred shares, Series B			 6,000,000
$

2013
shares		stated value

150,000 		 6,000,000

$

150,000

Common shares:					
Balance, beginning of year			 252,309,767
$ 1,630,844		 252,098,907
$ 1,572,573
Issued under Stock Option Plan (Note 18)			 747,379		 35,137		
1,547,260 		
66,714
Purchased for cancellation			 (1,587,800)		 (10,400)		 (1,336,400)		 (8,443)
Balance, end of year			 251,469,346

$ 1,655,581		 252,309,767

$ 1,630,844

Normal course issuer bid

In 2014, 1,587,800 (2013 – 1,336,400) shares were purchased at a cost of $79.5 million (2013 – $62.8 million).
The premium paid to purchase the shares in excess of the stated value was charged to Retained earnings.
The Company commenced a normal course issuer bid on April 14, 2014 which is effective until March 19, 2015.
Pursuant to this bid, the Company may purchase up to 12.6 million or 5% of its common shares outstanding as at
March 31, 2014. On April 12, 2013, the Company commenced a normal course issuer bid, effective for one year,
authorizing it to purchase up to 12.6 million or 5% of its common shares outstanding as at March 31, 2013.
In connection with its normal course issuer bid, the Company has established an automatic securities purchase
plan for its common shares. The automatic securities purchase plan provides standard instructions regarding how the
Company’s common shares are to be purchased under its normal course issuer bid during certain pre-determined
trading blackout periods. Outside of these pre-determined trading blackout periods, purchases under the Company’s
normal course issuer bid will be completed based upon management’s discretion.
1 7 . C A P I TA L MA N A GE ME N T

The Company’s capital management objective is to maximize shareholder returns while ensuring that the Company
is capitalized in a manner which appropriately supports regulatory capital requirements, working capital needs and
business expansion. The Company’s capital management practices are focused on preserving the quality of its financial
position by maintaining a solid capital base and a strong balance sheet. Capital of the Company consists of longterm debt, perpetual preferred shares and common shareholders’ equity. The Company regularly assesses its capital
management practices in response to changing economic conditions.
The Company’s capital is primarily utilized in its ongoing business operations to support working capital
requirements, long-term investments made by the Company, business expansion and other strategic objectives.
Subsidiaries subject to regulatory capital requirements include investment dealers, mutual fund dealers, exempt
market dealers, portfolio managers, investment fund managers and a trust company. These subsidiaries are required to
maintain minimum levels of capital based on either working capital, liquidity or shareholders’ equity. The Company’s
subsidiaries have complied with all regulatory capital requirements.
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1 7 . C A P I TA L MA N A GE ME N T (continued)

The total outstanding long-term debt was $1,325.0 million at December 31, 2014, unchanged from
December 31, 2013. Long-term debt is comprised of debentures which are senior unsecured debt obligations
of the Company subject to standard covenants, including negative pledges, but which do not include any specified
financial or operational covenants.
Perpetual preferred shares of $150 million at December 31, 2014 remain unchanged from December 31, 2013.
The Company purchased 1,587,800 common shares during the year ended December 31, 2014 at a cost of
$79.5 million under its normal course issuer bid (Note 16). The Company commenced a normal course issuer bid on
April 14, 2014 to purchase up to 5% of its common shares in order to mitigate the dilutive effect of stock options
issued under the Company’s stock option plan and for other capital management purposes. Other activities in 2014
included the declaration of perpetual preferred share dividends of $8.9 million or $1.475 per share and common share
dividends of $548.1 million or $2.175 per share. Changes in common share capital are reflected in the Consolidated
Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.
1 8 . S HA R E - B A S E D P A Y M E N T S
Stock option plan

Under the terms of the Company’s Stock Option Plan (Plan), options to purchase common shares are periodically
granted to employees at prices not less than the weighted average trading price per common share on the Toronto
Stock Exchange for the five trading days preceding the date of the grant. The options are subject to time and/or
performance vesting conditions set out at the grant date. Options vest over a period of up to 7.5 years from the grant
date and are exercisable no later than 10 years after the grant date. A portion of the outstanding options can only be
exercised once certain performance targets are met. At December 31, 2014, 21,367,983 (2013 – 10,115,362) common
shares were reserved for issuance under the Plan.
During 2014, the Company granted 1,024,685 options to employees (2013 – 1,385,195). The weighted-average fair
value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2014 has been estimated at $6.59 per option
(2013 – $5.06) using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The closing share price at the grant date was $54.01.
The assumptions used in the valuation model include:
2014

Exercise price
Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

$

53.81
1.90 %
6 years		
21.00 %
4.00 %

2013

$

45.51
1.75 %
6 years
22.00 %
4.73 %

Expected volatility has been estimated based on the historic volatility of the Company’s share price over six years
which is reflective of the expected option life. Stock options were exercised regularly throughout 2014 and the average
share price in 2014 was $50.90.
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1 8 . S HA R E -BA S E D P A Y ME N T S (continued)
Stock option plan (continued)

The Company recorded compensation expense related to its stock option program of $5.7 million
(2013 – $5.4 million).
2014
				 			
					 NU MBER OF		

					

OPTIONS		

2013

WEIGHTED- 			

number of
options

AVER AGE

EXER C ISE PR IC E

weightedaverage
exercise price

Balance, beginning of year			 7,442,999
$ 42.87		 8,115,461
$ 41.45
Granted			1,024,685		
53.81		 1,385,195		45.51
Exercised			 (747,379)		
40.50		 (1,547,260)		37.13
Forfeited			 (780,057)
44.42		 (510,397)		44.85
Balance, end of year			

6,940,248

$ 44.57		

7,442,999

$ 42.87

Exercisable, end of year			

3,124,226

$ 43.12		

2,943,693

$ 42.50

					
Options outstanding at December 31, 2014			

EXPIR Y		EXER C ISE		

OPTIONS

OPT IONS

OU TSTANDING

EXERCISABLE

284,741
258,230
578,639
486,205
789,425
807,708
630,757
928,889
1,188,744
986,910

284,741
258,230
578,639
277,456
373,950
550,069
332,020
287,038
182,083
-

			 6,940,248

3,124,226

DATE		

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

PR IC E ($ )		

37.09 - 37.78
46.68
50.60 - 50.92
42.09 - 44.60
26.67 - 44.00
40.45 - 42.82
42.49 - 46.72
45.56 - 47.23
44.73 - 47.26
53.81

Performance share unit plan

The Company has a Performance Share Unit (PSU) plan for eligible employees to assist in retaining and further
aligning the interests of senior management with those of the shareholders. Under the terms of the plan, PSUs are
awarded annually and are subject to time and performance vesting conditions. The value of each PSU is based on
the share price of the Company’s common shares. The PSUs are cash settled and vest over a three year period.
Certain employees can elect at the time of grant to receive a portion of their PSUs in the form of deferred share units
which vest over a three year period. Deferred share units are redeemable when a participant is no longer an employee
of the Company or any of its affiliates by a lump sum payment based on the value of the deferred share unit at that
time. Additional PSUs and deferred share units are issued in respect of dividends payable on common shares based on
a value of the PSU or deferred share unit at the dividend payment date. The Company recorded compensation expense,
excluding the impact of hedging, of $7.4 million in 2014 (2013 – $13.8 million) and a liability of $14.2 million at
December 31, 2014 (2013 – $19.5 million).
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1 8 . S HA R E - B A S E D P A Y M E N T S (continued)
Share purchase plans

Under the Company’s share purchase plans, eligible employees and Investors Group consultants can elect each year to
have a percentage of their annual earnings withheld, subject to a maximum, to purchase the Company’s common shares.
The Company matches 50% of the contribution amounts. All contributions are used by the plan trustee to purchase
common shares in the open market. Shares purchased with Company contributions vest after a maximum period of three
years following the date of purchase. The Company’s contributions are recorded in Non-commission expense as paid
and totalled $11.4 million (2013 – $10.5 million).
Deferred share unit plan

The Company has a Deferred Share Unit (DSU) plan for the directors of the Company to promote a greater
alignment of interest between directors and shareholders of the Company. Under the terms of the plan, directors are
required to receive 50% of their annual board retainer in the form of DSUs and may elect to receive the balance of their
annual board retainer in cash or DSUs. Directors may elect to receive certain fees in a combination of DSUs and cash.
The number of DSUs granted is determined by dividing the amount of remuneration payable by the average closing
price on the Toronto Stock Exchange of the common shares of the Company on the last five days of the fiscal quarter
(value of DSU). A director who has elected to receive DSUs will receive additional DSUs in respect of dividends payable
on common shares, based on the value of a DSU at the dividend payment date. DSUs are redeemable when a participant
is no longer a director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its affiliates by cash payments, based on the value
of the deferred share units at that time. At December 31, 2014, the fair value of the DSUs outstanding was $18.9 million
(2013 – $20.6 million). Any difference between the change in fair value of the DSUs and the change in fair value of
the total return swap, which is an economic hedge for the DSU plan, is recognized in Non-commission expense in the
period in which the change occurs.
1 9 . A C C UM ULA T E D OT H E R C OMP R E H E N SIVE IN CO ME (LO SS)

						 AV AILAB LE
					
EM PLO YEE
F O R S ALE
2014				
B ENEF IT S
S ECU RIT IES

Balance, beginning of year					 $
Other comprehensive income (loss)						
Balance, end of year					 $

(68,593) $
(54,917)		
(123,510)

$

INV ES T M ENT
IN AF F ILIAT E
AND O T HER

TOTAL

420 $ (14,786) $ (82,959)
(226)		 27,384		(27,759)
194

$

12,598

$ (110,718)

2013

Balance, beginning of year					 $
Other comprehensive income (loss)						

(92,475) $
23,882		

Balance, end of year					 $

(68,593)

$

963 $
(543)		
420

$

Amounts are recorded net of tax.
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(40,793) $ (132,305)
26,007		
49,346
(14,786) $

(82,959)

20. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company actively manages its liquidity, credit and market risks.
Liquidity and funding risk related to financial instruments

Liquidity and funding risk is the risk of the inability to generate or obtain sufficient cash in a timely and cost-effective
manner to meet contractual or anticipated commitments as they come due or arise.
The Company’s liquidity management practices include: controls over liquidity management processes; stress testing
of various operating scenarios; and oversight of liquidity management by Committees of the Board of Directors.
A key liquidity requirement for the Company is the funding of commissions paid on the sale of investment funds.
Commissions on the sale of investment funds continue to be paid from operating cash flows.
The Company also maintains sufficient liquidity to fund and temporarily hold mortgages. Through its mortgage
banking operations, residential mortgages are sold or securitized to:
• Investors Mortgage and Short Term Income Fund and Investors Canadian Corporate Bond Fund;
• Third parties, including CMHC or Canadian bank sponsored securitization trusts; or
• Institutional investors through private placements.
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are approved issuers of National Housing Act Mortgage Backed Securities
(NHA MBS) and are approved sellers into the Canada Mortgage Bond Program (CMB Program). This issuer and seller
status provides the Company with additional funding sources for residential mortgages. The Company’s continued
ability to fund residential mortgages through Canadian bank-sponsored securitization trusts and NHA MBS is
dependent on securitization market conditions that are subject to change. A condition of the NHA MBS and CMB
Program is that securitized loans be insured by an insurer that is approved by CMHC. The availability of mortgage
insurance is dependent upon market conditions that are subject to change.
The Company’s contractual obligations were as follows:
As at December 31, 2014 ($ millions)

DE M A N D

LES S T HAN 1 YEAR

1 – 5 YEARS

AF T ER 5 YEARS

TOTAL

Derivative financial instruments
$
$
9.2
$
20.6
$
$
29.8
Deposits and certificates		
203.8		7.6		8.4		3.5		
223.3
Obligations to securitization entities
-		1,249.0		5,468.4		 36.6		6,754.0
Long-term debt		
-		
-		525.0		800.0		
1,325.0
Operating leases(1)		
-		 55.0		147.3		 49.8		252.1
Pension funding(2)		
-		19.7		19.7		
-		39.4
Total contractual obligations

$

203.8

$ 1,340.5

$ 6,189.4

$

889.9

$ 8,623.6

(1)	Includes office space and equipment used in the normal course of business.
Lease payments are charged to earnings in the period of use.
(2)	The next required actuarial valuation will be completed based on a measurement date of December 31, 2016. Pension funding requirements beyond 2016
are subject to significant variability and will be determined based on future actuarial valuations. Pension contribution decisions are subject to change, as
contributions are affected by many factors including market performance, regulatory requirements, changes in assumptions and management’s ability to
change funding policy.

In addition to the Company’s current balance of cash and cash equivalents, liquidity is available through the
Company’s lines of credit. The Company’s lines of credit with various Schedule I Canadian chartered banks totalled
$525 million as at December 31, 2014, unchanged from December 31, 2013. The lines of credit as at December 31, 2014
consisted of committed lines of $350 million (2013 – $350 million) and uncommitted lines of $175 million (2013 – $175
million). The Company has accessed its uncommitted lines of credit in the past; however, any advances made by a bank
under the uncommitted lines of credit are at the bank’s sole discretion. As at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
the Company was not utilizing its committed lines of credit or its uncommitted lines of credit.
The Company’s liquidity position and its management of liquidity and funding risk have not changed materially since
December 31, 2013.
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2 0 . R I S K M A N A G E M E N T (continued)
Credit risk related to financial instruments

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a transaction fails to meet its
obligations. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, securities holdings, mortgage portfolios, and derivatives are
subject to credit risk. The Company monitors its credit risk management practices on an ongoing basis to evaluate
their effectiveness.
At December 31, 2014, cash and cash equivalents of $1,216.0 million (2013 – $1,082.4 million) consisted of cash
balances of $106.8 million (2013 – $88.8 million) on deposit with Canadian chartered banks and cash equivalents of
$1,109.2 million (2013 – $993.6 million). Cash equivalents are comprised of Government of Canada treasury bills
totalling $190.8 million (2013 – $41.8 million), provincial government and government guaranteed commercial
paper of $665.8 million (2013 – $564.1 million) and bankers’ acceptances issued by Canadian chartered banks of
$252.6 million (2013 – $387.7 million). The Company regularly reviews the credit ratings of its counterparties.
The maximum exposure to credit risk on these financial instruments is their carrying value. The Company manages
credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents by adhering to its Investment Policy that outlines credit risk parameters
and concentration limits.
The Company regularly reviews the credit quality of the mortgage portfolios, related to the Company’s mortgage
banking operations and its intermediary operations, as well as the adequacy of the collective allowance. As at
December 31, 2014, mortgages totalled $7.0 billion (2013 – $5.9 billion) and consisted of residential mortgages:
• Sold to securitization programs which are classified as loans and receivables and totalled $6.6 billion compared to
$5.5 billion at December 31, 2013. An offsetting liability, Obligations to securitization entities, has been recorded
and totalled $6.8 billion at December 31, 2014, compared to $5.6 billion at December 31, 2013.
• Related to the Company’s mortgage banking operations which are classified as held for trading and totalled
$366.2 million compared to $324.3 million at December 31, 2013. These loans are held by the Company pending
sale or securitization.
• Related to the Company’s intermediary operations which are classified as loans and receivables and totalled
$29.5 million at December 31, 2014, compared to $36.4 million at December 31, 2013.
As at December 31, 2014, the mortgage portfolios related to the Company’s intermediary operations were
geographically diverse, 100% residential (2013 – 100%) and 92.6% insured (2013 – 88.6%). As at December 31, 2014,
impaired mortgages were nil, unchanged from December 31, 2013. Uninsured non-performing mortgages over 90
days were nil, unchanged from December 31, 2013. The characteristics of the mortgage portfolio have not changed
significantly during 2014.
The NHA MBS and CMB Program require that all securitized mortgages be insured against default by an
approved insurer. The ABCP programs do not require mortgages to be insured; however, at December 31, 2014,
51.0% of these mortgages were insured compared to 58.9% at December 31, 2013. At December 31, 2014, 83.6% of
the securitized portfolio and the residential mortgages classified as held for trading were insured compared to 86.1%
at December 31, 2013. As at December 31, 2014, impaired mortgages on these portfolios were $2.1 million, compared
to $1.8 million at December 31, 2013. Uninsured non-performing mortgages over 90 days on these portfolios were
$0.3 million at December 31, 2014, compared to $0.9 million at December 31, 2013.
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2 0 . R I S K M A N A G E M E N T (continued)
Credit risk related to financial instruments (continued)

The Company retains certain elements of credit risk on securitized loans. At December 31, 2014, 85.1% of
securitized loans were insured against credit losses compared to 87.4% at December 31, 2013. The Company’s credit
risk on its securitization activities is limited to its retained interest. The fair value of the Company’s retained interests
in securitized mortgages was $136.2 million at December 31, 2014 compared to $112.5 million at December 31, 2013.
Retained interests include:
• Cash reserve accounts and rights to future net interest income – which were $35.1 million (2013 – $29.0 million) and
$127.4 million (2013 – $99.7 million), respectively, at December 31, 2014. Cash reserve accounts are reflected on
the balance sheet, whereas rights to future net interest income are not reflected on the balance sheet and will be
recorded over the life of the mortgages.
		 The portion of this amount pertaining to Canadian bank-sponsored securitization trusts of $65.1 million
(2013 – $59.0 million) is subordinated to the interests of the trust and represents the maximum exposure to credit
risk for any failure of the borrowers to pay when due. Credit risk on these mortgages is mitigated by any insurance
on these mortgages, as previously discussed, and the Company’s credit risk on insured loans is to the insurer.
		 Rights to future net interest income under the NHA MBS and CMB Program totalled $97.4 million
(2013 – $69.7 million). Under the NHA MBS and CMB Program, the Company has an obligation to make
timely payments to security holders regardless of whether amounts are received from mortgagors. All mortgages
securitized under the NHA MBS and CMB Program are insured by CMHC or another approved insurer under
the program. Outstanding mortgages securitized under these programs are $4.6 billion (2013 – $3.8 billion).
• Fair value of principal reinvestment account swaps – which had a negative fair value of $26.3 million at
December 31, 2014 (2013 – negative $16.2 million) and is reflected on the Company’s balance sheet. These swaps
represent the component of a swap entered into under the CMB Program whereby the Company pays coupons on
Canada Mortgage Bonds and receives investment returns on the reinvestment of repaid mortgage principal.
The notional amount of these swaps was $436.9 million at December 31, 2014 (2013 – $1,023.4 million).
The Company also retains certain elements of credit risk on mortgage loans sold to the Investors Mortgage and
Short Term Income Fund and to the Investors Canadian Corporate Bond Fund through an agreement to repurchase
mortgages in certain circumstances benefiting the funds. These loans are not recorded on the Company’s balance sheet
as the Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership associated with these loans.
The Company’s collective allowance for credit losses was $0.8 million at December 31, 2014, compared to
$0.7 million at December 31, 2013, and is considered adequate by management to absorb all credit-related losses in
the mortgage portfolios based upon the following considerations:
• The Company’s lending policy, underwriting standards and loan servicing capabilities.
• The Company’s practice of originating its mortgages exclusively through its own network of Investors Group
consultants and mortgage planning specialists as part of a client’s comprehensive financial plan.
• The quality of the Company’s mortgage portfolio based on: i) historical credit performance experience and recent
trends; ii) current portfolio credit metrics and other relevant characteristics; and, iii) regular stress testing of losses
under adverse real estate market conditions.
• The existence of client-insured mortgage default insurance and mortgage portfolio default insurance held by
the Company.
The Company’s exposure to and management of credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents, fixed income
securities, and mortgage portfolios have not changed materially since December 31, 2013.
The Company utilizes over-the-counter derivatives to hedge interest rate risk and reinvestment risk associated with
its mortgage banking and securitization activities, as well as market risk related to certain stock-based compensation
arrangements. To the extent that the fair value of the derivatives are in a gain position, the Company is exposed to
credit risk that its counterparties fail to fulfill their obligations under these arrangements.
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2 0 . R I S K M A N A G E M E N T (continued)
Credit risk related to financial instruments (continued)

The Company participates in the CMB Program by entering into back-to-back swaps whereby Canadian Schedule I
chartered banks designated by the Company intermediate between the Company and the Canada Housing Trust.
The Company receives coupons on NHA MBS and eligible principal reinvestments and pays coupons on the Canada
Mortgage Bonds. The Company also enters into offsetting interest rate swaps with the same bank counterparties to
hedge interest rate and reinvestment risk associated with the CMB Program. The negative fair value of these swaps
totalled $9.0 million at December 31, 2014 (2013 – negative $16.8 million) and the outstanding notional amount was
$6.7 billion (2013 – $6.8 billion). Certain of these swaps relate to securitized mortgages that have been recorded on the
Company’s balance sheet with an associated obligation. Accordingly, these swaps, with an outstanding notional amount
of $4.2 billion (2013 – $3.6 billion) and having a negative fair value of $17.9 million (2013 – negative $28.1 million),
are not reflected on the balance sheet. Principal reinvestment account swaps and hedges of reinvestment and
interest rate risk, with an outstanding notional amount of $2.4 billion (2013 – $3.2 billion) and having a fair value of
$8.9 million (2013 – $11.2 million), are reflected on the balance sheet. The exposure to credit risk, which is limited
to the fair value of swaps in a gain position, totalled $40.6 million at December 31, 2014 compared to $46.9 million at
December 31, 2013.
The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk associated with mortgages securitized
through Canadian bank-sponsored ABCP programs. The negative fair value of these interest rate swaps totalled
$0.3 million (2013 – negative $0.9 million) on an outstanding notional amount of $24.0 million at December 31, 2014
(2013 – $66.0 million). The exposure to credit risk, which is limited to the fair value of swaps in a gain position, was
nil at December 31, 2014, unchanged from December 31, 2013.
The Company enters into other derivative contracts which consist primarily of interest rate swaps utilized to hedge
interest rate risk related to mortgages held pending sale, or committed to, by the Company as well as total return swaps
and forward agreements on the Company’s common shares utilized to hedge deferred compensation arrangements.
The fair value of interest rate swaps, total return swaps and forward agreements was $1.1 million on an outstanding
notional amount of $156.0 million at December 31, 2014 compared to a fair value of $11.5 million on an outstanding
notional amount of $154.0 million at December 31, 2013. The exposure to credit risk, which is limited to the fair value
of those instruments which are in a gain position, was $2.7 million at December 31, 2014, compared to $11.5 million at
December 31, 2013.
The aggregate credit risk exposure related to derivatives that are in a gain position of $43.3 million
(2013 – $58.4 million) does not give effect to any netting agreements or collateral arrangements. The exposure
to credit risk, considering netting agreements and collateral arrangements and including rights to future net interest
income, was $2.5 million at December 31, 2014 (2013 – $3.9 million). Counterparties are all Canadian Schedule I
chartered banks and, as a result, management has determined that the Company’s overall credit risk related to
derivatives was not significant at December 31, 2014. Management of credit risk related to derivatives has not changed
materially since December 31, 2013.

108

igm financial inc. annual report 2014 / notes to consolidated financial statements

2 0 . R I S K M A N A G E M E N T (continued)
Market risk related to financial instruments

Market risk is the potential for loss to the Company from changes in the values of its financial instruments due to
changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates or equity prices. The Company’s financial instruments are generally
denominated in Canadian dollars, and do not have significant exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates.
Interest Rate Risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its loan portfolio and on certain of the derivative financial instruments
used in the Company’s mortgage banking and intermediary operations.
The objective of the Company’s asset and liability management is to control interest rate risk related to its
intermediary operations by actively managing its interest rate exposure. As at December 31, 2014, the total gap
between deposit assets and liabilities was within the Company’s trust subsidiary’s stated guidelines.
The Company utilizes interest rate swaps with Canadian Schedule I chartered bank counterparties in order to
reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on its mortgage banking operations, as follows:
• The Company has funded fixed rate mortgages with floating rate ABCP as part of certain securitization transactions
with bank-sponsored securitization trusts. The Company enters into interest rate swaps with Canadian Schedule I
chartered banks to hedge the risk that ABCP rates rise. However, the Company remains exposed to the basis risk
that ABCP rates are greater than the bankers’ acceptances rates that it receives on its hedges.
• The Company has in certain instances funded floating rate mortgages with fixed rate Canada Mortgage Bonds as
part of the securitization transactions under the CMB Program. The Company enters into interest rate swaps with
Canadian Schedule I chartered banks to hedge the risk that the interest rates earned on floating rate mortgages
decline. As previously discussed, as part of the CMB Program, the Company is also entitled to investment returns
on reinvestment of principal repayments of securitized mortgages and is obligated to pay Canada Mortgage Bond
coupons that are generally fixed rate. The Company hedges the risk that reinvestment returns decline by entering
into interest rate swaps with Canadian Schedule I chartered bank counterparties.
• The Company is exposed to the impact that changes in interest rates may have on the value of mortgages held, or
committed to, by the Company. The Company enters into interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate risk related
to mortgages held by the Company.
As at December 31, 2014, the impact to annual net earnings of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would have
been a decrease of approximately $2.2 million (2013 – $1.6 million). The Company’s exposure to and management of
interest rate risk have not changed materially since December 31, 2013.
Equity Price Risk
The Company is exposed to equity price risk on its proprietary investment funds which are classified as available for
sale securities and on its equity securities and proprietary investment funds which are classified as fair value through
profit or loss (Note 4). Unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities are recorded in Other comprehensive
income until they are realized or until management determines there is objective evidence of impairment in value, at
which time they are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
The Company sponsors a number of deferred compensation arrangements where payments to participants are
linked to the performance of the common shares of IGM Financial Inc. The Company hedges this risk through the use
of forward agreements and total return swaps.
Risks related to assets under management

Risks related to the performance of the equity markets, changes in interest rates and changes in foreign currencies
relative to the Canadian dollar can have a significant impact on the level and mix of assets under management. These
changes in assets under management directly impact earnings.
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2 1 . D E R I VA TI V E F IN A N C IA L IN S T R U ME N TS

The Company enters into derivative contracts which are either exchange-traded or negotiated in the over-the-counter
market on a diversified basis with Schedule I chartered banks or Canadian bank-sponsored securitization trusts that
are counterparties to the Company’s securitization transactions. In all cases, the derivative contracts are used for
non-trading purposes. Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange the related
interest payments based on a specified notional amount and reference rate for a specified period. Total return swaps
are contractual agreements to exchange payments based on a specified notional amount and the underlying security for
a specific period. Forward contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a financial instrument on a future date at
a specified price.
Certain of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are subject to master netting arrangements and are
presented on a gross basis. The amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of the instruments
which are in a gain position and recorded as assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The total estimated fair value
represents the total amount that the Company would receive or pay to terminate all agreements at each year end.
However, this would not result in a gain or loss to the Company as the derivative instruments which correlate to certain
assets and liabilities provide offsetting gains or losses.
The following table summarizes the Company’s derivative financial instruments:
			
N OT I ON A L AM O U NT
					

			
2014		

1 YEAR

1–5

OR L E SS

YEARS

F AIR V ALU E
O V ER		

5 YEARS

CRED IT

T O T AL

RIS K

AS S ET

LIABILITY

Swaps		
$ 936,850 $ 1,657,116 $
Forward contracts		
7,760		 18,476		

423 $ 2,594,389 $
-		 26,236		

37,822 $ 37,822 $
1,627		 1,627		

28,660
1,128

			

423

39,449

29,788

$

944,610

$ 1,675,592

$

$ 2,620,625

$

$

39,449

$

2013

Swaps		
$ 1,406,721 $ 1,993,985 $
Forward contracts		 10,594		 16,752		

- $ 3,400,706 $
-		 27,346		

49,949 $
7,402		

49,949 $
7,402		

35,476
-

			

-

57,351

57,351

35,476

$ 1,417,315

$ 2,010,737

$

$ 3,428,052

$

$

$

The credit risk related to the Company’s derivative financial instruments after giving effect to any netting
agreements was $10.4 million (2013 – $22.8 million).
The credit risk related to the Company’s derivative financial instruments after giving effect to netting agreements
and including rights to future net interest income, was $2.5 million (2013 – $3.9 million). Rights to future net interest
income are related to the Company’s securitization activities and are not reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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2 2 . FA I R VA L U E OF F IN A N C IA L IN S T RU MEN TS

Fair values are management’s estimates and are generally calculated using market conditions at a specific point in time
and may not reflect future fair values. The calculations are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and are matters of
significant judgment.
All financial instruments measured at fair value and those for which fair value is disclosed are classified into one of
three levels that distinguish fair value measurements by the significance of the inputs used for valuation.
Fair value is determined based on the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the
most advantageous market, utilizing a hierarchy of three different valuation techniques, based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Observable inputs other than Level 1 quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; or inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable or corroborated by observable market data; and
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity. Valuation techniques are primarily
model-based.
Markets are considered inactive when transactions are not occurring with sufficient regularity. Inactive markets
may be characterized by a significant decline in the volume and level of observed trading activity or through large or
erratic bid/offer spreads. In those instances where traded markets are not considered sufficiently active, fair value is
measured using valuation models which may utilize predominantly observable market inputs (Level 2) or may utilize
predominantly non-observable market inputs (Level 3). Management considers all reasonably available information
including indicative broker quotations, any available pricing for similar instruments, recent arm’s length market
transactions, any relevant observable market inputs, and internal model-based estimates. Management exercises
judgment in determining the most appropriate inputs and the weighting ascribed to each input as well as in the
selection of valuation methodologies.
Fair value is determined using the following methods and assumptions:
Securities and other financial liabilities are valued using quoted prices from active markets, when available.
When a quoted market price is not readily available, valuation techniques are used that require assumptions related
to discount rates and the timing and amount of future cash flows. Wherever possible, observable market inputs are
used in the valuation techniques.
Loans classified as Level 2 are valued using market interest rates for loans with similar credit risk and maturity.
Loans classified as Level 3 are valued by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing market yields.
Obligations to securitization entities are valued by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing market
yields for securities issued by these securitization entities having similar terms and characteristics.
Deposits and certificates are valued by discounting the contractual cash flows using market interest rates currently
offered for deposits with similar terms and credit risks.
Long-term debt is valued using quoted prices for each debenture available in the market.
Derivative financial instruments are valued based on quoted market prices, where available, prevailing market rates
for instruments with similar characteristics and maturities, or discounted cash flow analysis.
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2 2 . FA I R VA LU E OF F IN A N C IA L IN S T RU M EN TS (continued)

Level 1 financial instruments include exchange-traded equity securities and open-end investment fund units in
instances where there are quoted prices available from active markets.
Level 2 assets and liabilities include fixed income securities, loans, derivative financial instruments, deposits and
certificates and long-term debt. The fair value of fixed income securities is determined using quoted market prices
or independent dealer price quotes. The fair value of derivative financial instruments and deposits and certificates
are determined using valuation models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques using primarily
observable market inputs. The fair value of long-term debt is determined using indicative broker quotes.
Level 3 assets and liabilities include securities with little or no trading activity valued using broker-dealer quotes,
loans, obligations to securitization entities and derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments
consist of principal reinvestment account swaps which represent the component of a swap entered into under the
CMB Program whereby the Company pays coupons on Canada Mortgage Bonds and receives investment returns on
the reinvestment of repaid mortgage principal. Fair value is determined by discounting the projected cashflows of the
swaps. The notional amount, which is an input used to determine the fair value of the swap, is determined using an
average unobservable prepayment rate of 15% which is based on historical prepayment patterns. An increase (decrease)
in the assumed mortgage prepayment rate increases (decreases) the notional amount of the swap.
The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities,
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The table distinguishes between those financial instruments recorded
at fair value and those recorded at amortized cost. The table also excludes fair value information for financial assets and
financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. These
items include cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other receivables, certain other financial assets, accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, and certain other financial liabilities.
fair value

2014 		

C A RRY I N G V A L UE		

LEVEL 1 		

LEVEL 2 		

LEVEL 3 		

T OT AL

Financial assets recorded
at fair value
Securities
		 – Available for sale
$
10,220
$
10,220
$
$
$
10,220
		 – Held for trading		
79,325		
76,953		 769		1,603		
79,325
Loans
		 – Held for trading		 366,227		
-		
366,227		
-		
366,227
Derivative financial instruments		
39,449		
-		
39,449		
-		
39,449
Financial assets recorded
at amortized cost
Loans
		 – Loans and receivables
6,652,666		
-		
29,749		
6,819,531		
6,849,280
Financial liabilities recorded
at fair value
Derivative financial instruments		
29,788		
-		
3,461		
26,327		
29,788
Other financial instruments		
6,585		
6,585		
-		
-		6,585
Financial liabilities recorded
at amortized cost
Deposits and certificates		223,328		
-		225,266		
-		 225,266
Obligations to securitization
		entities
6,754,048		
-		
-		
6,858,924		
6,858,924
Long-term debt
1,325,000		
-		1,681,954		
-		 1,681,954
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2 2 . FA I R VA L U E OF F IN A N C IA L IN S T RU MEN TS (continued)
fair value
2013		

carrying value		

level 1		

level 2 		

level 3		

total

Financial assets recorded
at fair value
Securities
		 – Available for sale
$
4,113
$
4,113
$
$
$
4,113
		 – Held for trading		
64,622		
62,216		
960		
1,446		
64,622
Loans
		 – Held for trading		 324,271		
-		 324,271		
-		
324,271
Derivative financial instruments		
57,351		
-		
48,946		
8,405		
57,351
Financial assets recorded
at amortized cost
Loans
		 – Loans and receivables		 5,527,229		
-		
35,958		 5,659,082		 5,695,040
Financial liabilities recorded
at fair value
Derivative financial instruments		
35,476		
-		
10,908		
24,568		
35,476
Financial liabilities recorded
at amortized cost
Deposits and certificates		 186,420		
-		 187,941		
-		
187,941
Obligations to securitization
		
entities		
5,572,055		
-		
-		
5,671,379		
5,671,379
Long-term debt		1,325,000		
-		1,577,807		
-		 1,577,807

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in 2014 and 2013.
The following table provides a summary of changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis.
								
				
G AINS /(LO S S ES )
PU RCHAS ES			
			
BALANCE
INCLU D ED IN
AND		T RANS F ERS
BALANC E
(1)
2014 		
J A N UA R Y 1 NET EARNING S
IS S U ANCES
S ET T LEM ENT S
IN/O U T
D EC EMBER 31

Assets
Securities
		– Held for trading
$
1,446 $
964 $
138 $
945 $
Liabilities
Derivative financial
		instruments, net		16,163		(25,458)		 (1,413)		 13,881		

-

$

1,603

-		26,327

2013

Assets
Securities
		– Held for trading
$
840 $
917 $
100 $
136 $
Liabilities
Derivative financial
		instruments, net		
56,245		17,908		 (3,617)		 18,557		

(275) $

1,446

-		 16,163

(1) Included in Net investment income in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
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2 3 . E A R NI NG S P E R C OMMO N S H A R E
2014

Earnings
Net earnings			
$
Perpetual preferred share dividends				
Net earnings available to common shareholders			

$

Number of common shares (in thousands)
Average number of common shares outstanding				
Add:
– Potential exercise of outstanding stock options				
Average number of common shares outstanding
– Diluted basis				
Earnings per common share (in dollars)
Basic			
Diluted			

2013

762,101
$ 770,754
8,850		8,850
753,251

$

761,904

252,108		252,013
670		461
252,778		252,474

$
$

2.99
2.98

$
$

3.02
3.02

2 4 . C O NTI NG E N T L IA B IL IT IE S , C OMMIT MEN TS AN D G U AR AN TEES
Contingent liabilities

The Company is subject to legal actions arising in the normal course of its business. Although it is difficult to predict
the outcome of any such legal actions, based on current knowledge and consultation with legal counsel, management
does not expect the outcome of any of these matters, individually or in aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial position.
Commitments

The Company is committed to the following annual lease payments under its operating leases: 2015 – $55.0 million;
2016 – $47.4 million; 2017 – $40.8 million; 2018 – $33.3 million; and 2019 and thereafter – $75.6 million.
Guarantees

In the normal course of operations, the Company executes agreements that provide for indemnifications to third
parties in transactions such as business dispositions, business acquisitions, loans and securitization transactions.
The Company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and officers. The nature of these agreements precludes the
possibility of making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount the Company could be required to
pay third parties as the agreements often do not specify a maximum amount and the amounts are dependent on the
outcome of future contingent events, the nature and likelihood of which cannot be determined. Historically, the
Company has not made any payments under such indemnification agreements. No provisions have been recognized
related to these agreements.
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2 5 . R E LA TE D P A R T Y T R A N S A C T IO N S
Transactions and balances with related entities

The Company enters into transactions with The Great-West Life Assurance Company (Great-West), London Life
Insurance Company (London Life) and The Canada Life Assurance Company (Canada Life), which are all subsidiaries
of its affiliate, Lifeco, which is a subsidiary of Power Financial Corporation. These transactions are in the normal
course of operations and have been recorded at fair value:
• During 2014 and 2013, the Company provided to and received from Great-West certain administrative services.
The Company distributes insurance products under a distribution agreement with Great-West and Canada Life
and received $71.6 million in distribution fees (2013 – $76.7 million). The Company received $18.1 million
(2013 – $16.2 million) and paid $18.7 million (2013 – $15.5 million) to Great-West and related subsidiary
companies for the provision of sub-advisory services for certain investment funds. The Company paid $67.3 million
(2013 – $56.7 million) to London Life related to the distribution of certain investment funds of the Company.
• During 2014, the Company sold residential mortgage loans to Great-West and London Life for $183.6 million
(2013 – $203.4 million).
The Company entered into tax loss consolidation transactions with its parent company, Power Financial
Corporation, after obtaining advance tax rulings:
• The Company acquired $1.25 billion of 6.01% preferred shares of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Power Financial
Corporation. As sole consideration for the preferred shares, the Company issued $1.25 billion of 6.00% secured
demand debentures to Power Financial Corporation. Effective December 31, 2013, the Company exercised its
legally enforceable right to settle the preferred shares and the debenture on a net basis.
• On January 7, 2014, the Company acquired $1.67 billion of 4.51% preferred shares of a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Power Financial Corporation. As sole consideration for the preferred shares, the Company issued $1.67 billion of
4.50% secured demand debentures to Power Financial Corporation. The Company has legally enforceable rights to
settle these financial instruments on a net basis and the Company intends to exercise these rights.
• On January 6, 2015, the Company acquired $0.33 billion of 4.51% preferred shares of a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Power Financial Corporation. As sole consideration for the preferred shares, the Company issued $0.33 billion
of 4.50% secured demand debentures to Power Financial Corporation. The Company has legally enforceable rights
to settle these financial instruments on a net basis and the Company intends to exercise these rights.
The preferred shares and debentures and related dividend income and interest expense are offset in the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company. Tax savings arise due to the tax deductibility of the
interest expense.
Key management compensation

The total compensation and other benefits to directors and employees classified as key management, being individuals
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, are as follows:
2014

Compensation and employee benefits
$
Post-employment benefits		
Share-based payments		
			

$

2013

4,218
$
4,430
3,313		5,178
3,572		4,635
11,103

$

14,243

Share-based payments exclude the fair value remeasurement of the deferred share units associated with changes in
the Company’s share price (Note 18).
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2 6 . S E G M E NTED IN F O RMA T IO N

The Company’s reportable segments are:
• Investors Group
• Mackenzie
• Corporate and Other
These segments reflect the current organizational structure and internal financial reporting. Management measures
and evaluates the performance of these segments based on earnings before interest and taxes.
Investors Group earns fee-based revenues in the conduct of its core business activities which are primarily related to
the distribution, management and administration of its investment funds. It also earns fee revenues from the provision
of brokerage services and the distribution of insurance and banking products. In addition, Investors Group earns
intermediary revenues primarily from mortgage banking and servicing activities and from the assets funded by deposit
and certificate products.
Mackenzie earns fee-based revenues from services it provides as fund manager to its investment funds and as
investment advisor to sub-advisory and institutional accounts.
Corporate and Other includes Investment Planning Counsel, equity income from its investment in Lifeco (Note 8),
net investment income on unallocated investments, other income, and also includes consolidation elimination entries.
											

2014

					INVESTOR S				C OR POR ATE
					

GR OU P		 MAC K ENZ IE		AND OTHER 		

T OT AL

Revenues
Management fees
$ 1,251,287
$ 706,247
$
56,552
$ 2,014,086
Administration fees		278,596		105,499		 13,140		397,235
Distribution fees		179,115		 11,495		160,647		351,257
Net investment income and other		 51,381		 2,682		112,205		166,268
			1,760,379		 825,923		 342,544		2,928,846
Expenses
Commission		537,620		298,678		156,375		992,673
Non-commission		445,671		281,393		 52,710		779,774
			983,291		580,071		209,085		
1,772,447
Earnings before undernoted

$

777,088

$

245,852

$

133,459		1,156,399

Interest expense								
(92,152)
Client distributions and other costs								
(80,968)
Restructuring and other charges								
(18,316)
Earnings before income taxes								
964,963
Income taxes								
202,862
Net earnings								
762,101
Perpetual preferred share dividends								
8,850
Net earnings available to common shareholders							
$ 753,251
Identifiable assets
$ 8,209,063
$ 1,340,765
$ 2,210,814
$ 11,760,642
Goodwill		1,347,781		1,168,580		 140,178		2,656,539
Total assets
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$ 9,556,844

$ 2,509,345

$ 2,350,992
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2 6 . S E G M E N T E D IN F OR M A T ION (continued)
											

2013

					 INV ES T O RS 				CO RPO RAT E
					

G RO U P		 M ACKENZIE		AND O T HER		

TOTAL

Revenues
Management fees
$ 1,122,978
$
662,022
$
47,606
$ 1,832,606
Administration fees		242,303		103,934		 11,298		357,535
Distribution fees		187,210		 13,583		122,252		323,045
Net investment income and other		
61,500		
7,309		
96,758		
165,567
			
1,613,991		786,848		277,914		
2,678,753
Expenses
Commission		494,584		271,660		119,879		886,123
Non-commission		401,673		264,585		 47,221		713,479
			896,257		536,245		167,100		
1,599,602
Earnings before undernoted

$

717,734

$

250,603

$

110,814		1,079,151

Interest expense								
(92,150)
Restructuring and other charges								
(14,601)
Proportionate share of affiliate’s provision								
8,980
Earnings before income taxes								
981,380
Income taxes								
210,626
Net earnings								
770,754
Perpetual preferred share dividends								
8,850
Net earnings available to common shareholders							

$

761,904

Identifiable assets
$ 6,918,331
$ 1,324,679
$ 1,981,300
$ 10,224,310
Goodwill		1,347,781		1,168,580		 139,498		2,655,859
Total assets

$ 8,266,112

$ 2,493,259

$ 2,120,798

$ 12,880,169
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